SURGICAL THERAPY OF PANCREATIC CANCER

Glenroy Heywood, Michael P. Vezeridis, Harold J. Wanebo

Division of Surgical Oncology, Boston University, Roger Williams Medical Center, Providence, Rhode Island

Received 8/20/98 Accepted 9/3/98

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction and historical perspective
- 3. Whipple Pancreaticoduodenectomy
- 4. Total Pancreatectomy
- 5. Regional Pancreatectomy
- 6. Left Hemipancreatectomy
- 7. Pylorus-preserving Pancreatoduodenectomy
- 8. Local excision
- 9. Laparoscopy in Pancreatic Cancer
- 10. Conclusion
- 11. References

1. ABSTRACT

Surgical resection remains the only curative modality for pancreatic cancer. Improvements in surgical technique have greatly reduced the morbidity and mortality from pancreatic resection. These results clearly justify the use of pancreatic resection for localized and resectable pancreatic cancer. New surgical techniques such as laparascopy can aid in the proper selection of candidates for curative resection. Integration of surgery with more effective treatments to prevent systemic relapse are needed to further improve survival.

2. INTRODUCTION AND HISTORICAL PERSPECTIVE

Pancreatic adenocarcinoma is one of the leading causes of cancer death in the United States, and was responsible for an estimated 27,000 new cases and 28,000 deaths in 1997 (1),making it the fifth leading cause of cancer death after cancer of the lung, large intestine, breast and prostate. It is second only to colorectal cancer as a cause of death from cancer of the digestive tract. The overall outlook for patients with pancreatic cancer is quite gloomy. A recent survey by the Commission on Pancreatic cancer in the USA, reporting on a total of 16,942 patients, found a resectability rate of 13.3%, an operative mortality of 7.2% and a 5-year survival rate of 4% (2). Despite this apparent gloom, of all the treatment modalities employed in the management of pancreatic cancer, only surgery has curative potential.

The earliest recognition of pancreatic cancer has been attributed to Morgani, but definitive differentiation between pancreatic cancer and chronic pancreatitis cannot be made from his descriptions (3,4). The gross characteristics of the disease were described nicely by

Mondiere in 1836 (5,6). DaCosta, the first American physician to write about pancreatic circinoma, collected and reported 37 cases--35 from autopsy records, one personal case, and one reported to him (3,5,7). By the end of the nineteenth century numerous cases of cancer of the head of the pancreas were confirmed histopathologically and the signs and symptoms of the disease were well described (3). Bard and Pic, in 1888, correlated signs and symptoms of pancreatic carcinoma with autopsy findings in seven patients with disease, and distinguished between duct and acinal cell cancers (8). Courvoisier, in 1890, described the classic sign of a palpable distended gallbladder in patients with pancreatic cancer (9). Pain as a predominant symptom in cancer of the body of the pancreas was described by Chauffard in 1908 (10).

Attempts to treat pancreatic cancer surgically were made at the end of the nineteenth century. Trendeleburg was one of the first to successfully excise a solid tumor of the body and the tail of the pancreas in 1882. The patient died shortly after discharge (3,11). Kappeler, in 1887, performed the first cholecystojejunostomy for palliation in a patient with cancer of the pancreas who survived 14 ½ years after the operation (3). Biondi, in 1894, removed a tumor from the head of the pancreas with postoperative development of a biliary and pancreatic fistula that healed within 25 days (3). Halsted, in 1898, successfully performed the removal of an ampullary carcinoma. He excised a portion of the pancreas and the duodenum around the ampulla and re-implanted the pancreatic and common bile duct into the repaired suture line of the duodenal excision. The patient developed common duct stenosis 3 months after the operation, died 6 months later, and the autopsy showed recurrence of the cancer in the pancreas and the duodenum (12).

In 1898, Codivilla performed an en bloc resection of the head of the pancreas and a part of the duodenum for pancreatic carcinoma. He closed the pylorus, invaginated the duodenal stump, ligated, transected the common bile duct, and performed a Roux-en-Y cholecystenterostomy and gastroenterostomy. The patient died 24 days after the procedure and an autopsy showed widespread metastases (3,5,13). In 1912, Kausch performed a successful two-stage pancreaticoduodenectomy with implantation of the pancreatic stump into the distal end of the transected duodenum. The patient survived for 9 months, died from cholangitis and an autopsy, showed no recurrence or metastasis (3,14). In 1914, Hirschel performed a one-stage pancreaticoduodenectomy, for carcinoma of the ampulla. The patient experienced relief from the jaundice but died a year after the operation (3,15). Tenani, in 1922, performed a successful two-stage partial pancreaticoduodenectomy. In the first stage, the common bile duct was divided, its end was connected to the lower end of the duodenunm, and a gastrojejunostomy was performed. The second stage was performed 1 month later and included resection of the second portion of the duodenum, with a portion of the head of the pancreas and implantation of the pancreatic head into the lower end of the transected duodenum (3,16,17).

3. WHIPPLE PANCREATICODUODENECTOMY

Despite these isolated successful attempts during the early part of the twentieth century, no significant interest was shown in pancreatic resections until 1935, when Whipple and his associates developed and popularized the technique for a two-stage operation for carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater, the Whipple procedure (18). The first stage of the operation consisted of a cholecystogastrostomy and gastrojejunostomy, while at the second stage a resection of the second and third parts of the duodenum along with a portion of the head of the pancreas was performed. The first and fourth parts of the duodenum were inverted and closed. The lower end of the common bile duct, the pancreatic duct, and the pancreatic stump were closed. Brunschwig, in 1937, successfully performed a wide resection of the head of the pancreas with the entire duodenum in two stages (19). In 1940, Trimble performed the operation in one stage with similar results (20).

Several modifications of the original procedure described by Whipple were made by other surgeons. Hunt, in 1941, invaginated the cut surface of the pancreas into the jejunum to avoid steatorrhea, hemorrhage, pancreatic fistulae that occurred often after closure of the pancreatic stump (21). For the same reason Zinninger, in 1942, anastomosed the pancreatic duct to the jejunum (22). Leakage from the ligated common bile duct and frequent failure of the cholecystoenterostomy to drain the biliary tract led Whipple to recommend choledochojejunostomy as the anastomosis of choice for restoration of continuity between the gastrointestinal and biliary tracts (23). Another modification was the increased extent of the gastric and pancreatic resection. The original procedure spared the pylorus, but subsequent removal of the entire duodenum and 50% to 70% of the stomach had to be performed (5). While only a local resection of the tumor was performed in the first of the

three patients reported by Whipple and associates (18), larger portions of the pancreas were removed in the other two patients. Increasing amounts of gland were subsequently resected leading to sectioning at the level of the neck of the pancreas or beyond, thus allowing resection of larger tumors with adequate margins (5). By 1942, Whipple described his operation as resection en masse of the distal half of the stomach, the entire duodenum, the terminal portion of the common bile duct, and the head of pancreas. followed bv an end-to-end choledochojejunostomy, anastomosis of the pancreatic duct to the wall of the jejunum with tacking of the stump of the pancreas to the jejuunal wall and a gastrojejunostomy in this sequence, using a vertical limb of jejunum that starts at the duodenojejunal junction (24). Today the Whipple pancreaticoduodenectomy is the procedure of choice for most surgeons treating patients with adenocarcinoma of the head of the pancreas. The long-term survival and post operative mortality as improve significantly since Whipple described this procedure (table 1).

4. TOTAL PANCREATECTOMY

According to Sauv'e (13) total pancreatic resections were performed by Billroth in 1894 and by Franke in 1900. The first reported case of total pancreatectomy for carcinoma was performed in 1943 by Rockey, on a patient who died 15 days after the operation (25) . In 1944, Priestley, Comfort, and Radcliffe reported the first total pancreatectomy with uneventful postoperative course on a patient with hyperinsulinism caused by an isletcell carcinoma (26). Subsequently, other surgeons performed this procedure for pancreatic carcinoma in the 1940s and 1950s (24-32). In fact, Ross (31), in 1954, considered total pancreatectomy the procedure of choice for the treatment or pancreatic carcinoma. Poor long-term survival combined with significant mortality and morbidity discouraged its use by most surgeons treating pancreatic cancer. Resurgence of interest in this operation occurred in the 1970s, mainly, because of the unsatisfactory results of pancreaticoduodenectomy (33-35). Several institutions reported series with reasonable mortality and morbidity rates (33,36-38, 68-77) (table 2). Proponents of total pancreatectomy claim that it provides better eradication of pancreatic cancer and it does not require a pancreatic anastomosis, which is the source of substantial morbidity. Opponents argue that multicentricity is rather uncommon in pancreatic cancer and that brittle diabetes, which is wellknown sequela of total pancreatectomy, is extremely difficult to manage and may cause fatalities.

5. REGIONAL PANCREATECTOMY

The dismal long-term results after pancreaticoduodenectomy and total pancreatectomy provided the rationale for regional resection of the pancreas described by Fortner in 1973 (39). This operation designed to accomplish removal of the pancreas, the immediately adjacent tissue and the primary lymphatic drainage of the pancreas. The transpancreatic portion of the portal vein is included in the en bloc resection and the splanchnic venous blood flow is re-established by an end-

Table 1. Long-term survival and operative mortality after Whipple pancreated uodenectomy carcinoma

| # of patients | 5-yr survival (%) | Operative mortality (%) | Reference Number |
|---------------|--------------------------------|--|--|
| 555 | 15 | 8.0 | 68 |
| 138 | 21 | 6.0 | 70 |
| 28 | 7.0 | 4.6 | 71 |
| 107 | 13.8 | 3.5 | 72 |
| 104 | 10.0 | 2.4 | 73 |
| 201 | 21 | 5.0 | 74 |
| | 555 138 28 107 104 | 555 15 138 21 28 7.0 107 13.8 104 10.0 | 555 15 8.0 138 21 6.0 28 7.0 4.6 107 13.8 3.5 104 10.0 2.4 |

Table 2 Long-term Survival and operative mortality after total pancreatectomy for carcinoma

| Institution | # of patients | 5-yr survival (%) | Operative mortality (%) | Reference Number |
|---------------------------|---------------|-------------------|-------------------------|------------------|
| French Assoc. Surgery | 555 | 3.0 | 7.0 | 68 |
| Mass. General Hospital | 138 | 14.0 | 8.0 | 60 |
| Columbia University | 28 | 1.5 | 23.4 | 69 |
| Rennes | 107 | 8.0 | 13.0 | 76 |
| Mayo Clinic | 89 | 3.4 | 10.1 | 77 |

to-end anastomosis of the portal and superior mesenteric veins. The celiac axis and the proximal portion of the superior mesenteric artery with their lymphatic vessels and lymph nodes are also removed en bloc and revascularization of the intestine and the liver is accomplished with the use of synthetic vascular graft (39). In 1984, Fortner published the results of regional pancreatectomy on 61 patients. The resectability rate was about 30%. The operative mortality and morbidity rates were dropped from 32% and 76% respectively in the patients treated in 1979 to 8% and 55% in the patients treated in 1982. Twenty percent of the patients with infiltrating ductal carcinoma were alive with disease at the time of the report and more than 90% of these patients had advanced stage disease (40). Recent studies from Japan show that the addition of regional lymphadenectomy and portal or superior mesenteric vein resection to pancreatectomy improves survival in selected patient groups (41,42). Despite these rather encouraging results regional pancreatectomy, a true surgical tour de force, has not gained wide acceptance among surgeons treating carcinoma of the pancreas.

6. LEFT HEMIPANCREATECTOMY

Left hemipancreatectomy is reserved for tumors of the tail of the pancreas which are rearly discovered before they are operable. Even when these tumors are operable, only a handful of long-term survivors has ever been reported (43).

7. PYLORUS-PRESERVING PANCREATODUODEN-ECTOMY

Pancreaticoduodenectomy with pylorus preservation was described by Traverso and Longmire 1978 (44). The rationale for the use of this procedure is the

decrease of the functional and nutritional sequelae of pancreaticoduodenectomy that are caused by the partial gastrectomy and the loss of pyloric function. The popularity of this technique for treatment of pancreatic cancer among some surgeons in recent years (45-48) parallels the adoption of less radical procedures for the management of malignant tumors in other anatomic locations. Although some studies demonstrated no decrease in survival with the use of pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomv (46,48), others showed potential for increased local recurrence and survival compromise in some patients, suggesting caution with the use of this procedure for the treatment of pancreatic cancer (49,50). The place of this operation in the surgical armamentarium for the management of pancreatic cancer needs to be more clearly defined.

8. LOCAL EXCISION

The more conservative approach of local excision may be used in the treatment of some periampullary tumors. Today, local excision is recommended for benign villous adenomas of the papilla or duodenum, particularly in highrisk patients who might not tolerate a more radical resection (51). However, up to 50% of these apparently benign adenomas may recur as carcinomas (52).

9. LAPAROSCOPY IN PANCREATIC CANCER

This diagnostic modality has been used with increasing frequency during the last decade because of the availability of improved instrumentation and better familiarity of surgeons with the technique. Most patients with peripancreatic malignancy are found at exploation to be unable to undergo resection. Laparoscopy can identify

small peritoneal omental and liver metastases that cannot be diagnosed with other modalities, thus preventing the performance of unnecessary laparatomies (64-66). Although laparoscopic Whipple procedure has been done, so far it has been met with a more guarded response (67).

10. CONCLUSION

A major concern regarding surgery for pancreatic cancer has been the high mortality and morbidity associated with pancreatic resections. Mortality in the earlier years was indeed quite high. In the 1960s most surgeons reported operative mortality rates of 20-40% (53-55), with the single exception of Howard who reported a series of 41 consecutive Whipple resections without an operative mortality (56). The high operative mortality, combined with the dismal long-term survival results (57), have raised serious questions about the value pancreaticoduodenectomy as a curative approach to pancreatic cancer (58). The significant advances in perioperative care and expertise with pancreatic surgery have contributed dramatic decrease in operative mortality. Several recently published series have shown a significant decrease in operative mortality rate (45,46,59-63,68-77). In addition, most of these series demonstrated an improvement in 5-year survival with rates ranging from 14 to 38% (46, 59-63, 68-77) (Table 1). These results clearly justify the use of pancreatic resection for localized and resectable pancreatic cancer when proper selection criteria are followed and the procedure is performed by surgeons with expertise in major pancreatic surgery. The selection of patients who are proper candidates for curative pancreatic resection has been facilitated by the use laparoscopy (64-66).

Despite the decreasing operative mortality and the improved survival following surgical resection of the pancreas, the overall survival of patients with pancreatic cancer has not changed significantly, because the majority of patients still present with advanced disease not amenable to surgery with curative intent. Undoubtedly, the quest for methods to provide earlier diagnosis and more effective approaches for the management of locally advanced disease will continue and hopefully lead to improved outcome of patients with pancreatic cancer.

11. REFERENCES

- 1. S.L. Parker, T. Tong,, S. Bolden, & Wingo P.A: Cancer statistics 1997. CA Can J Clin 47, 5-27, (1997)
- 2. R.J. Janes, J.E. Niederhuber, J.S. Chmiel, D.P. Winchester, K.C. Gewieja, L.H. Karnell, R.E.Cline, & H.R. Menck: National patterns of care for pancreatic cancer. *Ann Surg* 223, 261-272, (1996)
- 3 . A.C. Busnardo, L.J.A. DiDio, R.T. Tidrick, & N.R. Thomford: History of the pancreas. *Am J Surg* 146, 5399-5550 (1983)
- 4. P.J. Fitzgerald: Medical anecdotes concerning some diseases of the pancreas. In Fitzgerald PJ. Morrison AB.(eds): "The Pancreas." Baltimore: Williams and Wilkins. 1980. 1-29.

- 5. K.W. Warren, J.W. Braasch, C.W. Thum: Carcinoma of the pancreas. *Surg Clin North Am* 48, 601-618 (1968)
- 6. J.T. Mondiere: Recherches pour servir a l'histoire pathologique du pancreas. Memoires et observations. *Arch Gen de Med* 2:36-58 (May), 2:265-294 (July); 3:133-164 (Oct), 1836.
- 7. J.M. DaCosta: Cancer of the pancreas N Am Med Chir Rev 2,883-909 (1858)
- 8. L. Bard, & A.D. Pic: Contribution a l'etude clinique et anatomopathologique du cancer primitif du pancreas. *Rev de Med* 8, 257-282 (1888)
- 9. L.G. Courvoisier: "Kasuistisch-statistische Beitradge zur Pathologie und Chirurqie der Gallenwege." Leipzig,: F.C.W. Vogel, 58, (1890)
- 10. M.A. Chauffard: Communication. Le cancer du corps du pancreas. *Bull Acad De Med* 60:242-255,(1908)
- 11. A. Brunscwhig: "The surgery of Pancreatic Tumor." St. Louis: C.V Mosby 17-27, (1942)
- 12. W. Halsted: Contributions to the surgery of the bile passages especially of the common bile-duct. *Boston Med Surg J* 141, 645-654 (1899)
- 13. L. Sauv`e L: Des pancreatectomies et specialment de la pancreatectomie cephalique. *Rev de Chir* 37, 113-152, (1908)
- 14. W. Kausch: Das Carcinom de Papilla duodeni and seine radikale Entfernung. *Beitr Klin Chir* 78, 439-486 (1908)
- 15. G. Hirschel: Die Resektion des Duodenums mit der Papille wegen Karzinoms. *Muchen Med Wchnschr.* 61, 1728-1729 (1914)
- 16. O. Tenani: Contributo alla chirurgia della papilla del Vater. *Policlinico* 29,291-300 (1922)
- 17. A.O. Whipple: A historical sketch of the pancreas. In Howard JM, Jordan GH, (eds): "Surgical diseases of the pancreas." Philadelphia, J.B. Lippincott, 1-8 (1960)
- 18. A.O. Whipple, W.B. Parsons, & C.R. Mullins: Treatment of carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater. *Ann Surg* 102,763-779 (1935)
- 19. A. Brunschwig: Resection of head of pancreas and duodenum for carcinoma-pancreaticoduodenectomy. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 65,681-684 (1937)
- 20. I.R. Trimble, J.W. Parsons, & C.P. Sherman: A one-stage operation for the cure of carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater and of the head of the pancreas. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 73, 711-722 (1941)
- 21. V.C. Hunt: Surgical management of carcinoma of the ampulla of Vater and of the periampullary portion of the duodenum. *Ann Surg* 114, 570-602 (1941)
- 22. M.M. Zinninger: Radical resection of duodenum and head of pancreas for carcinoma of ampulla of Vater. Repair of pancreatic fistula using vitallium tube. *Cincinnati J Med* 23, 174-176 (1941)

- 23. A.O. Whipple AO: Rationale of radical surgery for cancer of the pancreas and ampullary region. *Ann Surg* 114, 612-615 (1941)
- 24. A.O.Whipple: Present day surgery of the pancreas. *N Engl J Med* 226,515-526 (1942)
- 25. E.W. Rockey: Total pancreatectomy for carcinoma: Case Report. *Ann Surg* 118,603-611. (1943)
- 26. J.T, Priestlev , M.W. Comfort, J. Radcliffe J: Total pancreatectomy for hyperinsulinism due to an islet-cell adenoma. *Ann Surg* 119,211-221 (1944)
- 27. A. Brunschwig: Surgical treatment of carcinoma of body of the pancreas. *Ann Surg* 12O,406-416 (1944).
- 28. H.T. Ricketts, A. Brunschwig, & K. Knowlton: Diabetes in total depancreatized man. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 58, 254, (1945)
- 29. J.M. Waugh, C.F. Dixon CF, & O.T. Clagett: Total pancreatectomy: a symposium presenting four successful cases and a report on metabolic observations. *Proc Mayo Clin* 21:25 (1946)
- 30. E.A. Gaston: Total pancreatectomy. *N Eng<u>l</u> J Med* 238, 345-354 (1948)
- 31. D.E. Ross: Cancer of the pancreas. A plea for total pancreatectomy. *Am J Surg* 87, 20-33 (1954)
- 32. G.N. Chandler, & M. Oldfield: Total pancreatectomy. *Br J Surg* 45, 263-266 (1957)
- 33. I. Ihse, P. Lilja, B. Arnesjo, S. Bengmark S: Total pancreatectomy for cancer: an appraisal of 6 cases. *Ann Surg* 186, 675-680 (1977)
- 34. The Portland Surgical Society: A ten year experience with carcinoma of the pancreas. A cooperative study. *Arch Sug* 94, 332-335 (1967)
- 35. M.B. Pliam, & W.H. ReMine: Further evaluation of total pancreatectomy. *Arch Surg* 119, 506-512 (1975)
- 36. W.H. ReMine, J.T. Priestley, E.S. Judd, & J.N. King: Total pancreatectomy. *Ann Surg* 172, 595 (1970)
- 37. J.R. Brooks, & J.M. Culebras: Cancer of the pancreas. Palliative operation, Whipple procedure or total pancreatectomy? *Am J Surg* 131,516-519 (1976)
- 38. J. Castellanos, G. Manifacio, R.C. Lillehei ,& C.H. Shatney: *Am J Surg* 131, 595-598 (1976)
- 39. J.G. Fortner: Regional resection of cancer of the pancreas: a new surgical approach. *Surgery* 73, 307-320 (1973)
- 40. J.G. Fortner: Regional pancreatectomy for cancer of the pincreas, ampulla and other related sites. *Ann Surg* 199, 418-425 (1984)
- 41. O. Ishikawa, H. Ohigashi, Y. Sasaki Y, T. Kabuto, I Fukuda, H. Furukawa, S Imaok, & T. Iwanaga: Practical usefulness of lymphatic and connective tissue clearance for

- the carcinoma of the pancreas head. Ann Surg 208, 215-220 (1988)
- 42. O. Ishikawa, H. Ohigashi, S. Imaoka, H. Furakawa, Y. Sasak, M. Fujita, C. Kuroda, & T. Iwanaga: Preoperative indications for extended pancreatectomy for locally advanced pancreas cancer involving the portal vein. *Ann Surg* 21, 5231-5236 (1992)
- 43. C.D. Johson, G. Schwall, J. Flechtenmacher, & M. Trede: Resection for adenocarcinoma of the body and tail of the pancreas. *Br J Surg* 80, 1177 (1993)
- 44. L.W. Traverso, & W.P. Longmire: Preservation of the pylorus in pancreaticoduodenectomy. *Surg Gynecol Obstet* 146, 959-962 (1978)
- 45. P.A. Grace, H.A. Pitt, R.K. Tompkins, DeuBesten L, & W.P. Longmire: Decreased morbidity and mortality after pancreaticoduodenectomy. *Am J Surg* 151, 141-149 (1978)
- 46. J.W. Braasch, D.J. Deziel, R.L. Rossi, E. Watkins & P.F. Winters: Pyloric and gastric preserving pancreatic resection: experience with 87 patients. *Ann Surg* 204,411-418 (1986)
- 47. P.A. Grace, H.A. Pitt, & W.P. Longmire. Pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy: an overview. *Br J Surg* 77, 968-974 (1990)
- 48. J.H.G. Klinkenbijl, G.P. VanderSchelling GP, W.C. J. Hop, R.V. Pel, H.A. Bruining, & J. Jeckel: The advantages of pylorus-preserving pancreaticoduodenectomy in malignant disease of the pancreas and peri-ampulla region. *Ann Surg* 216, 142-145 (1992)
- 49. K.W. Sharp, C.B. Ross, S.A. Halter, J.G. Morrison, C.C. Richards, L.F. Williams, & J.L. Sawyers: Pancreatoduodenectomy with pyloric preservation for carcinoma of the pancreas: a cautionary note. *Surgery* 105, 645-653 (1989)
- 50. J.D. Roder, H.J. Stein, W. Huttl, & J.R. Stewert: Pylorus-preserving versus standaard pancreaticoduodenectomv: an analysis of 110 pancreatic and peri-ampullary carcinomas. *Br J Surg* 279, 15I-155 (1992)
- 51. K.W. Sharp: Local resection of tumors of the ampulla of Vater. *Am J Surg* 56, 214 (1990)
- 52. W.P. Shutze, J. Sack, & J.S. Aldrete: Long-term follow-up of 24 patients undergoing radical resection for ampullary carcinoma, 1953-1988. *Cancer* 66, 1717-1724 (1990)
- 53. P.B. Lansing, J.B. Blalock, &J.L. Ochsner: Pancreaticoduodenectomy: retrospective review, 1949-1969. *Am J Surg* 38,79-86 (1972)
- 54. R.B. Gilsdorf, &P. Spanos: Factors influencing morbidity and mortality in pancreaticoduodenectomy. *Ann Surg* 177, 332-337 (1973)
- 55. P.J. Morris, & G.L. Nardi: Pancreaticoduodenal cancer. *Arch Surg* 92, 4-837 (1966)

- 56. J.M. Howard: Pancreaticoduodenectomy: forty-one consecutive Whipple resections without an operative mortality. *Ann Surg* 168, 629-640 (1968)
- 57. B. Gudjonsson B: Cancer of the pancreas: 50 years of surgery, *Cancer* 60,2284-2303 (1987)
- 58. J.A. VanHeerden, D. C. McIlrath, &R.R. Dozois: Radical pancreaticoduodenectomy-A procedure to be abandoned? *Mayo Clin Proc* 56, 601-606 (1981)
- 59. D.W. Crist, J.V. Sitzmann, & J.L. Cameron: Improved hospital morbidity, mortality, and survival after the Whipple procedure, *Ann Surg* 206,358-365 (1987)
- 60. J.R. Brooks, D.C. Brooks, J.D. Levine: Total pancreatectomy for ductal cell carcinoma of the pancreas. *Ann Surg* 209,405-410 (1989)
- 61. C.A. Pelligrini, C.F. Heck, S. Raper, & L.N. Way: An analysis of the reduced morbidity and mortality rates after pancreaticoduodenectomy. *Arch Surg* 124, 778-781 (1989)
- 62. G.T. Schwall, & S. H. Saeizer: Survival after pancreaticoduodenectomy. *Ann Surg* 211, 447-458 (1990)
- 63. J. A.Van Heerden: Carcinoma of the head of pancreas: surgical options. In Wanebo HJ (ed): "Common Problems in Cancer Surgery." Chicago: Yearbook Medical Publishers, 131-138, (1990)
- 64. A.L. Warshaw, J.E. Tepper, & W.U. Shipley: Laparoscopy in the staging and planning of therapy for pancreatic cancer. *Am J Surg* 151,76-80 (1986)
- 65. A. Cuschieri: Laparoscopy for pancreatic cancer: does it benefit the patient? Eur *J Surg Oncol* 14, 41-44 (1988)
- 66. A.L. Warshaw, Z. Y. Gu, & J. Wittenberg, A. C. Waltman. Preoperative staging and assessment of resectability of pancreatic cancer. Arch Surg 125, 230-233 (1990)
- 67. M. Gagner, & A. Pomp A: Laparoscopic pylorus-preserving pancreatoduodenectomy. *Surg Endosc* 8,408-410, (1994)
- 68. H. Baumel, M. Huguier, J.C. Manderscheid JC, S. Houry, & H. Pagot.: Results of resection for cancer of the exocrine pancreas: a study from the French Association of Surgery. *Br J Surg* 81:102-107 (1994)
- 69. F.P. Herter, A.M. Cooperman, T.N. Ahlborn, & C. Antinori: Surgical experience with pancreatic and periampullary cancer. *Ann Surg* 195, 274-281 (1982)
- 70. Y. Fong, L.H. Blumgart, H.G. Fortner JG, & M.F. Brennan: Pancreatic or liver resection for malignancy is safe and effective for the elderly. *Ann Surg* 222, 426-437 (1995)
- 71. B.A. Jones, B. Langer, B.R. Taylor, M. Girotti : Periampullary tumors: which ones should be resected? *Am J Surg* 149,46-51 (1985)
- 72. J. Klempnauer, G.J. Ridder, & H. Bektas: Extended resections of ductal pancreatic cancer-impact on operative risk and prognosis. *Oncol* 53:47-57 (1996)

- 73. M.G. Sarr, KE. Behrns, & J.A. Van Heerden: Total pancreatectomy. An objective analysis of its use in pancreatic cancer. *Hepatogastroent* 40:418-422, (1993)
- 74. C.J. Yeo, J.L. Cameron, M.M. Maher, P.K. Sauter, M.L. Zuhurak, M.A. Talamini, D. Lillemoek, & HA Pitt: A prospective randomized trial of pancreaticogastrostomy versus pancreaticojejunostomy after pancreaticoduodenostomy. *Ann Surg* 222, 580-588 (1995)
- 75. Catillo CF del, Rattner DW, Warshaw: Standards for pancreatic resection in the 1990's. *Arch Surg* 130: 295, (1995)
- 76. B. Launois, J. Franci, E. Bardaxoglou, M.P. Ramee, J.L. Paul, Y. Malledant, & J.P. Campion: Total pancreatectomy for ductal adenocarcinoma of the pancreas with special reference to resection of the portal vein and multicentric cancer. *World J Surg* 17,122-127 (1993)
- 77. J.A. Van Heerden, W. ReMine, L. Weiland L, D.C. McIlarath, & D.M. Ilstrup: Total pancreatectomy for ductal adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. *Am J Surg* 142, 308-311, (1981)

Key words: Pancreas, Cancer, Adenocacrinoma, Oncology, Treatment

Send correspondence to: Dr Harold J. Wanebo, Division of Surgical Oncology, Boston University, Roger Williams Medical Center, 825 Chalkstone Ave, Providence, Rhode Island, 02908-75 Tel: (401)-456-205, Fax: (401)-456-205, E-mail: harold_wanebo@brown.edu